RECEIVED

Nov 05 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
PERRY H. GRAVELY, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

Appellate Case No. 2025-000366
Civil Action No. 2022-CP-23-04055

Stacey Grist as Agent under a Power of Attorney for
Stanford W. Grist and as Trustee of the Second Amended
Trust of Stanford W. Grist living Trust dated December 5, 2005,
Stanford Grist Veterinary Services, LLC, Chestnut Ridge Farm, LLC,
And Hilly Street, LLC,..... Appellants,

v.

Priscilla Mickie Grist, Caroline York Grist Lyon,
Leyland H. Lyon, Jr., Jennifer Browning, Browning
Geriatrics Consulting, LLC, Tracy Parson, Kiki’s Kare, LLC

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of three separate orders granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents in an action seeking to recover damages sustained by Dr. Stanford W. Grist (hereafter “Dr. Grist”), following probate proceedings initiated by a disgruntled daughter (Defendant Prescilla Mickie Grist) after learning Dr. Grist significantly reduced her inheritance. [R. pp. 63-115]. In sum, the lower Court concluded (1) Respondents Browning and Parsons were each entitled to quasi-judicial immunity, thus barring Appellant’s negligence/gross negligence claim; (2) Respondent Comfort Keepers was not negligent or grossly negligent in its handling of allegations of sexual misconduct by one of its employees; (3) Appellant failed to prove negligent, hiring, supervision, and training; and (4) Appellant failed to present sufficient evidence establishing a conspiracy as to Respondents Browning and Parsons.

On August 1, 2022, Stacey Grist, the Appellant here, filed a civil action in the Court of Common Pleas of Greenville County against Priscilla Mickie Grist, Caroline York Grist Lyon, Leyland H. Lyon, Jr., Jennifer Browning, Browning Geriatrics Consulting, LLC, Tracy Parson, Kiki’s Kare, LLC d/b/a Comfort Keepers, Erin Couchell Individually and as a member of Kiki’s Kare, Chris Couchell individually and as a member of Kiki’s Kare, LLC, and Kerry Burnett McCreary alleging claims of (1) Abuse of Process; (2) Civil Conspiracy; (3) Violation of South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act; and (4) Intentional Interference with Business Contract – as to Respondent Prescilla Mickie Grist and Caroline Lyon only. [R. pp. 123-142].

On August 15, 2022, Appellant filed an Amended Summons and Complaint, again naming each Defendant while adding additional claim(s) of Negligent Hiring, Training, and Supervision against Respondents Kiki’s Kare, Tracey Parsons, Jennifer Browning, Browning Geriatrics

Consulting, LLC, Eric Couchell, and Chris Couchell. [R. pp. 143-178]. All Defendants filed Answers. [R. pp. 188-249].

A final Second Amended Complaint was filed against each of the named Defendants asserting an additional claim of Negligence/Gross Negligence on January 29, 2024. [R. pp. 250-275]. Again, all named Defendants less Defendant McCreary filed Answers. [R. pp. 276-362].

The gravamen of Appellant's allegations was the use of the probate court process by the Defendants/Respondents to (1) circumvent Stanford W. Grist's well thought out and extensive estate plan; and (2) ensure the continuation of the guardianship proceedings to ensure each of their respective financial gain. [R. pp. 250-275]

Following the January 6, 2025, Orders granting Respondents' respective Motions for Summary Judgment, Appellant filed Motions to Alter and Amend each Order granting summary judgment dated January 16, 2025. [R. pp. 1217-1253]. On January 30, 2025, the Circuit Court denied each of Appellant's Motions to Alter and Amend. [R. pp. 51-59].

Respondents were each served with their respective Notice of Appeal on or about February 27, 2025. Following the separate notices of appeal, the Court of Appeals forwarded a correspondence dated February 28, 2025, consolidating the three Notices of Appeal. However, since the factual basis as to summary judgment as to each Respondent is slightly different, each is addressed separately in the Argument section of this final brief.

Defendants who are not respondents in this appeal:

- Priscilla Mickie Grist (an adult daughter of Dr. Grist).
- Caroline York Grist Lyon (another adult daughter of Dr. Grist).
- Leyland Lyon (son-in-law of Dr. Grist, married to Caroline).
- Kerry McCreary (employee of Kiki's Kare who sexually assaulted Dr. Grist).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2005 while being involved daily in the operation of his veterinary practice, active, agile and intellectually intact, Dr. Grist took extensive steps with the assistance of estate planning counsel to produce a detailed estate plan that would also provide for any eventuality that might arise in the future, including his death. He created a trust; appointed a health care power of attorney (HCPOA) and a durable power of attorney (DPOA) in the event he needed help as he aged. As circumstances with his business changed¹, Dr. Grist again employed counsel to update his plans, removing Defendants Leland Lyon and Caroline York Grist Lyon and appointing his daughter, Appellant Stacey Grist as successor trustee of his trust after himself as primary trustee [First Trust Amendment]. In 2019, Dr. Grist went to a well-respected estate planning lawyer in Greenville, South Carolina and updated his HCPOA to name his daughter Defendant Mickie Prescilla Grist. [R. p. 1122]. Shortly thereafter², he also amended his DPOA to name Stacey to act in his stead if he was unable. [R. pp. 1107-1121]. On or about May 13, 2020, just over a year later, Dr. Grist amended his estate planning documents once more which was intended to represent the final disposition of his property after his death, while leaving Stacey in place as successor trustee. The lawyer who made these amendments also had Dr. Grist evaluated for competency, and Dr. Grist was found to be of sound mind. [R. p. 1126]. The Second Amendment reduced the post-death

¹ Dr. Grist learned that Leyland and Caroline, who lived in Georgia and to whom he had entrusted the financial end of his practice, had failed to properly oversee the finances of his practice, which led to litigation awarding Dr. Grist \$200,000.00 in judgment for unfair trade practices, injunctive relief and other relief against a former employee (office manager/employee) who was supposed to be supervised by Leyland and Caroline. *See Stanford Grist Veterinary Services LLC v. Judy Tabor and James Ratliffe*, Case No. 2005-CP-23-4213-R. (Order of Circuit Court Judge G. Edward Welmaker dated September 2, 2007).

² The estate planning attorney very astutely had Dr. Grist evaluated for competency prior to the 2019 amendments and Dr. Grist naturally passed with flying colors; he was still actively practicing veterinary medicine and overseeing multiple clinics for many years.

distributions to his daughter Defendant Prescilla Mickie Grist. [Second Trust Amendment]. These amendments were subsequently explained to Defendant Prescilla Mickie Grist.

Angered by her discovery of Dr. Grist's amendments to his Trust, Defendant Mickie Prescilla Grist resigned her position as HPOA and undertook a course of action intended to ensure her post-death inheritance be restored back to its pre-2020 status. [R. p. 1138].

In July of 2020, Defendant Prescilla Mickie Grist filed a petition seeking the appointment of a guardian, in direct violation of Dr. Grist's estate plan by falsely claiming Dr. Grist had no estate document and that he suffered from dementia (while going to work daily). [R. p. 1].

Without notice to him or even requiring his appearance, the probate court found Dr. Grist to be incapacitated, and appointed Defendant Prescilla Mickie Grist as temporary guardian. Shortly thereafter, Defendant Prescilla Mickie Grist resigned her position as temporary guardian, and the Probate Court appointed Respondents Browning and Parsons as professionals to provide care for Dr. Grist. [R. pp. 2-6]. These "professionals" retained Comfort Keepers and began round-the-clock "care" of Dr. Grist. [R. pp. 2468-2476]. Their "care" resulted in imprisonment of Dr. Grist in his home, a sexual assault of Dr. Grist by one of his "caretakers", overmedication of Dr. Grist, and finally, permanent brain damage. By way of example, these "professionals" installed over \$100,000.00 worth of fencing around Dr. Grist's beloved farm under the guise of Dr. Grist being a flight risk. In truth, what led to the installation of the referenced fence was Dr. Grist attempting to drive himself to his veterinary clinic as he had done for the past 40+ years because he simply could not believe his entire life had been stripped from him.

Stacey finally successfully wrestled control from the Respondents and filed this action for damages against the wrongdoers and now cares for him with the assistance of workers who were not hired by the so-called "professionals."

ARGUMENT OF APPELLANT TO RESPONDENT BROWNING

I. It was Error to Have Granted Defendant Browning’s Motion for Summary Judgment on Any Ground.

A. Standard of Review

“An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC: Summary judgment is properly upheld when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” *Peterson v. W. Am. Ins. Co.*, 336 S.C. 89, 94 (Ct. App. 1999) (citations omitted). The non-moving party is entitled to the benefit of “all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence....” *Willis v. Wu*, 362 S.C. 146, 151 (2004) (citation omitted). Even where the parties agree on the relevant facts, just not the conclusions that flow from them, summary judgment is inappropriate. *Nelson v. Charleston Cty. Parks & Rec. Comm’n*, 362 S.C. 1, 5 (Ct. App. 2004) (citation omitted).

B. Statement of Additional Facts

Between February and May of 2019, Dr. Grist amended his Durable Power of Attorney and Second Amended Trust of Stanford W. Grist Dated December 5, 2005, to name Stacey Grist as his attorney-in-fact and successor trustee, respectively, in the event of his incapacity. In the fall of 2019, after having made Defendants Prescilla Mickie Grist, Caroline Lyon, and Leyland Lyon aware of the changes to his estate plan, Dr. Grist found himself on the receiving end of an anonymous complaint with the South Carolina Labor Licensing and Regulation (“LLR”) board in which the complainant questioned Dr. Grist’s ability to continue to perform veterinary services. [R. pp. 1055-1072]. In early 2020, the LLR investigation was closed, and the allegations of incapacity were deemed unfounded. [*Id.*].

In response to the unwarranted and unsupported allegations of the LLR Complaint, Dr. Grist sought the assistance of a highly respected attorney to include additional amendments to his Trust, but only after submitting to an independent medical evaluation by a disinterested third-party. The 2020 amendment divested Defendant Mickie Prescilla Grist of any ownership interest she had in Stanford Grist Veterinary Services, LLC, Chestnut Ridge Farm, LLC (the real estate entity holding the nearly 400 acres of real property upon which Dr. Grist's home was located), and Hilly Street, LLC (the real estate entity holding the real property upon which Stanford Grist Veterinary Services, LLC operated).

On July 9, 2020, a mere two months after Dr. Grist's fairly significant amendments to this Trust, Defendant Prescilla Mickie Grist petitioned, on an *ex parte* basis, for the appointment of herself to serve as Dr. Grist's guardian in direct violation of his Durable Power of Attorney. [R. p. 116-122]. Despite directives to the contrary, by *ex parte* order dated July 15, 2020, Defendant Prescilla Mickie Grist was named Dr. Grist's temporary guardian. [R. p. 1]. With the consent of all Defendants, Defendant Prescilla Mickie Grist was ultimately removed as temporary guardian and Respondent Parsons was appointed, with Respondent Jennifer Browning and Browning Geriatrics Consulting, LLC (collectively "Respondent Browning") subsequently being named Guardian Ad Litem. [R. p. 2] [R. pp. 4-6]. From the outset it became clear that Respondent Parsons was running the show, and all communications and decisions were to flow through her, regardless of what Dr. Grist's estate plan called for. [R. p. 1429].

Over the coming years, Respondent Browning and her Co-Defendants/Co-Respondents used these probate filings, and their respective subsequent appointments to exercise complete control over Dr. Grist's person and finances, in an attempt to assist with the re-writing of Dr.

Grist's estate plan, even going as far to using Trust assets that could never be part of Dr. Grist's probate estate, to pay each of these appointment "professionals."

Respondent Browning was directly involved in these attempts through the submissions of numerous reports to the Greenville County Probate Court which contained on many occasions knowingly false, inaccurate, or intentionally misleading information, all geared towards ensuring the continuance of the guardianship action. [R. pp. 2382-2412]. By way of example and not limitation, Respondent Browning testified to speaking to Respondent Prescilla Mickie Grist on no less than thirty-four (34) occasions following her appointment, in an effort to "...provide support..." to Respondent Prescilla Mickie Grist in furtherance of her endeavors, i.e. have Dr. Grist's estate plan rewritten - while at the same time carefully tailoring her filings in an attempt to avoid triggering the Trusts no contest clause - in an effort to ensure her inheritance reverted back to its pre May 13, 2020 status. [R. p. 1653].

C. Summary Judgment was Improper as to Appellant's Claim of Negligence/Gross Negligence.

The Circuit Court erred in finding, as a matter of law, that Respondent Browning was entitled to quasi-judicial immunity because "Plaintiffs have failed to produce evidence or testimony that any actions taken by Browning were outside of her scope of duties as the guardian ad litem" [R. pp. 902-977] [R. pp. 79-104].

Although court-appointed guardians are generally afforded absolute quasi-judicial immunity from civil liability, this immunity is not blanket protection for all actions taken by a guardian, and actions performed outside the scope of their appointment are still subject to liability. *See Falk v. Sadler*, 341 S.C. 281, 533 S.E.2d 350 (Ct. App. 2000). Falk states that "[i]t is the nature of the acts, not simply the status of the defendants as guardian ad litem, that determines the

availability of immunity for the challenged acts and the extent of protection afforded by that immunity.” *Id.* In *Falk*, the Court found that *Falk*’s complaint contained several allegations which, if true, would show the guardian acted outside the scope of her duties and thus is not entitled to immunity. *Id.*

Contrary to Respondents suggestion that no testimony exists demonstrating “...that any actions taken by Browning were outside her scope of duties...” the Court need look no further than Respondent Browning’s own admissions. On May 1, 2024, Respondent Jennifer Browning’s deposition was taken, and when asked “...Emails and telephone communications to and from Mickie [Respondent Prescilla Mickie Grist] to provide support. Is it your job to support her? I thought you were independent. Is it your job to support her?” Respondent Jennifer Browning replied, “It’s not my job to.” [R. p. 1667]. The degree of the harm caused by the conduct is a separate consideration; for purposes of the summary judgment motion presented to the lower Court, it cannot be concluded that Respondent Browning engaged in “no” conduct that fell beyond her scope of duties, as she freely admitted to engaging in activities that were not her “job”. *Id.*

Summary judgment “is a drastic remedy...[and] should be cautiously invoked to ensure that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.” *Helena Chem. Co. v. Allianz Underwriters Ins. Co.*, 357 S.C. 631, 644 (2004) (citation omitted). That judicial hesitation ought to be doubly strong where the party moving for summary judgment, by their own admissions, establish the existence of a genuine issue of material fact. “[G]ross negligence is a mixed question of law and fact and should be presented to the jury unless the evidence supports only one reasonable inference.” *Worsley Cos. v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 339 S.C. 51, 57, 528 S.E.2d 657, 661 (2000) (citing *Clyburn v. Sumter County School Dist. # 17*, 317 S.C. 50, 451 S.E.2d 885 (1994)).

For the foregoing reasons Appellant believes the Circuit Court erred in its grant of summary judgment as to Respondent's claim of Negligence/Gross Negligence.

D. Summary Judgment was Improper as to Appellant's Claim of Conspiracy.

"A civil conspiracy is a combination of two or more parties joined for the purpose of injuring the plaintiff and thereby causing special damage." (citation omitted). The "essential consideration" in civil conspiracy "is not whether lawful or unlawful acts or means are employed to further the conspiracy, but whether the primary purpose or object of the combination is to injure the plaintiff." *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 567, 633 S.E.2d 505, 511 (2006).

Below, the Court erroneously held that Appellant (1) failed to produce or identify evidence or testimony to establish that Browning did anything other than appropriately communicate and correspond with the other Defendants..."; (2) failed to provide actual evidence to support the combination or agreement of the parties to conspiracy; (3) failed to provide any compelling evidence that the parties conspired to commit an unlawful act by unlawful means, together with the commission of an overt act in furtherance; and (4) failed to show the primary purpose of the conspiracy was to injure the Plaintiff. [R. pp. 79-104].

As to the existence of a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Browning did anything other than appropriately communicate and correspond with other Defendants, the Court need look no further than Respondent Browning's own admissions. Following her appointment, Respondent Browning became a critical part of Defendant Prescilla Mickie Grist efforts to gain control over her father and his estate. Despite argument to the contrary, whether Respondent Browning benefited directly from any amendment to Dr. Grist's estate planning is of no consequence and does not drill down on the gravamen of Appellant's argument which is all Defendants/Respondents

stood to benefit financially from Defendant Prescilla Mickie Grist's ongoing challenge to Dr. Grist's estate. [R. pp. 2477-2478].

Respondent Browning testified to speaking to Respondent Prescilla Mickie Grist on no less than **thirty-four (34)** occasions -while speaking to Appellant and trustee/durable power of attorney on two occasions - following her appointment, in an effort to **"...provide support..."** to Respondent Prescilla Mickie Grist in furtherance of her endeavors, i.e. have Dr. Grist's estate plan rewritten - while at the same time carefully tailoring her filings in an attempt to avoid triggering the Trusts no contest clause – in an effort to ensure her inheritance reverted back to its pre May 13, 2020 status. [R. p. 1653]. When questioned about whether it was her job to "provide support" to Defendant Prescilla Mickie Grist, Respondent Browning very clearly testified it was not. *Id.*

Although unnecessary to demonstrate the clear existence of a genuine issue of material fact, by way of further example, Respondent Browning also testified about other communications that were far from "appropriate" including discussions with Respondent Parsons about the sexual assault of Dr. Grist, testifying that "...everything was reported to the Court except that one incident." [R. p. 1716]. To suggest discussions concerning the sexual assault of an alleged incapacitated individual, and the ultimate election to intentionally conceal the same from the probate court – presumably to ensure to continuation of the guardianship process and the fees that were being paid as a result of the same, which most certainly would have ended or resulted in the removal of certain professionals if reported – constitutes appropriate communication with her Co-Defendants/Respondents is both a legal and factual fallacy.

Appellant would also argue, respectfully, that the January 6, 2025, Order incorrectly set a requirement that Appellant not only prove the existence of a conspiracy, but also present "compelling evidence" of the same, rather than present some evidence that there existed a genuine

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