RECEIVED

Nov 19 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2022-CP-23-04055 and
Appellate Case No. 2025-000366

Stacey Grist as Agent under a Power of Attorney for
Stanford W. Grist and as Trustee of the Second Amended
Trust of Stanford W. Grist living Trust dated December 5, 2005,
Stanford Grist Veterinary Services, LLC, Chestnut Ridge Farm, LLC,
And Hilly Street, LLC.....Appellants.

v.

Priscilla Mickie Grist, Caroline York Grist Lyon,
Leyland H. Lyon, Jr., Jennifer Browning, Browning

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY CONCLUDED THAT RESPONDENTS ARE ENTITLED TO QUASI-JUDICIAL IMMUNITY FOR NEGLIGENCE AND/OR GROSS NEGLIGENCE.

Respondents are entitled to quasi-judicial immunity for actions while serving as guardian ad litem. Fleming v. Asbill, 326 S.C. 49, 483 S.E.2d 751 (1997). It is an uncontroverted fact that Respondent Browning was appointed by order of the Probate Court to serve as guardian ad litem for Dr. Grist. She was the court-appointed guardian ad litem for the entirety of her involvement with Dr. Grist. Thus, Respondents retain the benefit of that immunity while acting within the scope of the guardianship.

In Fleming, the Court considered whether a court-appointed guardian ad litem in a child custody suit was immune from negligence claims for those acts performed within the scope of her appointment. The Court held, “Case law from other jurisdictions, as well as strong policy reasons, convince us that guardians ad litem in private custody actions should be entitled to immunity.” Id. at 55. In fact, the Court found that the immunity extended to guardians ad litem “is an absolute quasi-judicial immunity.” Id. at 57. The Court explained its reasoning:

Both persuasive authority and the policy reasons set forth above convince us to hold today that private persons appointed as guardians ad litem in private custody proceedings are afforded immunity for acts performed within the scope of their appointment. Because one of the guardian’s roles is to act as a representative of the court, and because this role can only be fulfilled if the guardian is not exposed to a constant threat of lawsuits from disgruntled parties, a finding of quasi-judicial immunity is necessary. Such a grant of immunity is crucial in order for guardians to properly discharge their duties.

Id. The Court, however, understandably limited that immunity to those acts within the scope of

the guardian ad litem's duties, and stated that it would not extend, for example, to a guardian who abuses a child. *Id.* at 56. Respondents accept and embrace those limitations. However, Appellants cannot and have not identified, articulated, or produced evidence which supports or suggests that Respondents' actions ever exceeded the bounds or scope of the guardianship.

Rather than present facts, testimony, or evidence to establish that Respondents acted outside of the scope of guardianship and thus are not entitled to immunity, instead, as she did in her Second Amended Complaint, Appellant relies upon smoke, mirrors and inuendo, what she speciously refers to as "circumstantial evidence," in arguing that Respondents "used these probate filings . . . to exercise complete control over Dr. Grist's person and finances, in an attempt to assist in the re-writing of Dr. Grist's estate plan" (App.'s Final Br. at 7–8). This allegation is supported by neither evidence nor testimony. All of the evidence establishes that all of Respondents' actions as guardian ad litem, including representations, reports, and submission to the probate court, were within the scope of the guardianship.

As stated above, Appellant asserts that Respondents were negligent in fulfilling the role of guardian ad litem in so much as while Respondent Browning "was responsible for Dr. Grist's health, wellbeing and safety," Dr. Grist was sexually assaulted by Ms. McCreary while she was "working within the course and scope of her employment with Comfort Keepers." (R. pp. 262–263, ¶¶ 55, 59). Additionally, Appellant claims that Respondents submitted "numerous reports to the Greenville County Probate Court which contained on many occasions knowingly false, inaccurate, or intentionally misleading information, all geared towards ensuring the continuance of the guardianship action." (App.'s Final Br. at 8). Specifically, Appellant submits that by communicating thirty-four times with the then-serving guardian, Mickie Grist, who had no prior experience serving as a guardian, Respondents exceeded the scope of the services they were

ordered by the probate court to provide. Appellant relies upon out-of-context and intentionally brief excerpts from Respondent Browning's deposition to argue that she even admitted that some of her actions were beyond the scope of her service as guardian ad litem. Respondents made no such admissions.

S.C. Code Ann. Section 62-5-106 summarizes the responsibilities of a court-appointed guardian ad litem. The responsibilities are broad and include acting within the best interest of the alleged incapacitated individual, obtaining and reviewing documents, interviewing the parties, discerning the alleged incapacitated individual's interests, contacting the Department of Social Services to facilitate investigations, filing reports of the guardian ad litem, and advocating for the best interests of the alleged incapacitated individual by making specific recommendations regarding resources, the appropriateness of a guardian or conservator, and any limitations to be imposed. *S.C. Code Ann. Section 62-5-106, et seq.* It should be noted that the role of the guardian ad litem is distinct from that of the guardian. These positions are not duplicative. One does not find in the statute that the guardian ad litem is responsible for the alleged incapacitated individual's "health, wellbeing, and safety." That, in fact, is the responsibility of the guardian—not the guardian ad litem. However, assuming, *arguendo*, that Respondents were in fact responsible, and that they failed in those responsibilities, they would still be entitled to immunity for those failures.

While Appellant did not explicitly allege in the Second Amended Complaint negligent acts by Browning beyond her failure to provide for Dr. Grist's "health, wellbeing, and safety," they do allude to misrepresentations made by Browning to the Court, and in fact, contend that Browning fabricated reports related to Dr. Grist, including Dr. Grist's threatening behavior, as well as falls. (R. p. 261, ¶¶ 47–50). Of course, Appellant also alleges such "facts" in her Initial Brief, as well. (App.'s Initial Br. at 8–9). To the extent that the Appellant contends that these were negligent acts

outside of the scope of Respondents' services as guardian ad litem, first, the allegations are blatant falsehoods without any evidentiary support, and secondly, the actions are squarely within the scope of her services because a guardian ad litem's duty to report is explicitly outlined in S.C. Code Ann. Section 62-5-106.

Appellant does not cite to any specifics in her initial brief pertaining to her allegation that Respondents filed numerous reports containing "knowingly false, inaccurate, or intentionally misleading information." (App.'s Initial Br. at 8). Thus, it is not possible to address this contention with disproving facts. However, again, the Circuit Court properly found that had there been errors in the reports, or had Respondents been negligent in completing and filing the reports, Respondents would be entitled to immunity for those actions as those responsibilities fall squarely within the statutorily described duties of a guardian ad litem.

Appellant also suggests that Browning's communications with Mickie Grist were somehow outside of the scope of her guardianship and were intended to harm Dr. Grist. Appellant cites to page 151 of Respondent Browning's deposition for the proposition that "Respondent Browning testified to speaking to Respondent Prescilla Mickie Grist on no less than thirty-four (34) occasions . . . in an effort to 'provide support' to Respondent Prescilla Mickie Grist in furtherance of her endeavors, i.e. have Dr. Grist's estate plan rewritten- while at the same time carefully tailoring her findings in an attempt to avoid triggering the trusts no contest clause" (App.'s Final Br. at 11). A complete review of the exchange between counsel and Respondent Browning disproves Appellant's mischaracterization of the testimony.

Q: So then we have 07-23. Communications with Deputy Williams times three. Now, is it coincidental that you talked to Deputy Williams here by that's a different Deputy Wilson than Tracey spoke to? Is that your understanding?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. You spoke Deputy Williams. Multiple communications with Mickie. Welfare check concerns about guns and Dr. Grist's safety. Two hours on 07-23. So did you actually speak to Deputy Williams three times?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. Did he express frustration with you?

A: I think he expressed frustration with the situation.

Q: On 07-24 communications with Neal Rabon you times three to review the court order. Update on the case. Direction on the sheriff's office. Emails and telephone communications to and from Mickie to provide support. Is it your job to support her? I thought you were independent? Is it your job to support her?

Mr. Suggs: Object to the form of the question.

A: It's not my job to.

(R. p. 1666, line 18–p. 1667, line 18). Respondent Browning was being questioned about billing entries related to her investigation as guardian ad litem. One of the billing entries related to a phone call with Mickie Grist to “provide support” to her as the individual then serving as guardian. Respondent Browning simply stated that it is not her “job” to support Mickie Grist. However, even if it was not Respondent Browning’s “job” to do so, she was still communicating with Ms. Grist in her capacity and within the scope as guardian ad litem. The exchange between Appellant’s attorney and Respondent Browning certainly does not establish that by communicating with the guardian, Respondent Browning was doing so personally and outside of the scope of her guardianship. Clearly, she billed for the time as the guardian ad litem and also included references to the conversations with Mickie Grist in her reports to the probate court. Moreover, there is nothing in the exchange, or in any other testimony or document, that supports the Appellant’s conclusion that the conversations with Mickie Grist were “in furtherance of her endeavors, i.e. have Dr. Grist’s estate plan rewritten- while at the same time carefully tailoring her findings in an attempt to avoid triggering the trusts no contest clause” (App.’s Final Br. at 11). None. All that is known about the conversation comes from Respondent Browning, who certainly did not

admit to communicating with Mickie Grist to assist with re-writing Dr. Grist's estate plan or for any other purpose than as guardian ad litem speaking to temporary guardian. One cannot reasonably infer from the deposition exchange that Respondent was engaged in anything untoward as it relates to Appellant.⁴

Appellant has failed to produce evidence or testimony that can reasonably be interpreted as suggesting that any actions taken by Respondents were outside of the scope of duties as the guardian ad litem. Again, Respondents, as guardian ad litem, cannot be found liable for acts of negligence, or even gross negligence or recklessness, in the performance of their duties. Falk v. Sadler, 341 S.C. 281, 533 S.E.2d 350 (Ct.App. 2000) (citing Fleming v. Asbill, 326 S.C. 49, 57, 483 S.E.2d 751, 755-6 (1997)). Accordingly, summary judgment was appropriately awarded as to the negligence and gross negligence causes of action.

The Circuit Court considered all of the evidence and testimony before it in properly concluding that there was no evidence that Respondents acted outside of the scope of the guardianship and in awarding summary judgment to Respondents.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO PRODUCE EVIDENCE THAT RESPONDENTS CONSPIRED TO INJURE APPELLANT AND APPROPRIATELY AWARDED RESPONDENTS SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Appellant has concocted a theory that Respondents conspired with other professionals, both individuals and companies, to injure Appellant by contriving a plan to exploit money from Appellant, to change Dr. Grist's estate documents, to use Dr. Grist's funds for their own personal

⁴ It should be noted that Respondent Browning recommended that Mickie Grist be substituted with a non-family member to serve as temporary guardian at Respondent's first opportunity. (R. pp. 2382-2385).

gain, to gain control over Grist, and to name Comfort Keepers as Dr. Grist’s in-home care giver in direct violation of the estate documents. (R. pp. 269–270, ¶ 91). There is no evidence that any of the Respondents, including Respondent Browning, conspired with one another in any form or fashion as alleged by Appellant. Nothing. Instead, Respondent Browning was simply doing her job as a court-appointed guardian ad litem for Dr. Grist.

In South Carolina, a civil conspiracy claim requires a plaintiff show the following: “(1) the combination or agreement of two or more persons, (2) to commit an unlawful act or a lawful act by unlawful means, (3) together with the commission of an overt act in furtherance of the agreement, and (4) damages proximately resulting to the plaintiff.” Paradis v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist., 433 S.C. 562, 574, 861 S.E.2d 774, 780 (2021). While conspiracy may be inferred from the nature of certain acts, the relationship of parties, the interests of the alleged conspirators, or other circumstances, the Plaintiff must actually *produce evidence* from which joint assent of the minds of two or more parties may be inferred. Island Car Wash, Inc. v. Norris, 292 S.C. 595, 358 S.E.2d 150, 153 (Ct. App. 1987) (*emphasis ours*). In other words, actual evidence of the conspiracy is required to withstand a motion for summary judgment; there has to be more than an unsubstantiated theory. Appellant has not provided evidence which reasonably infers that the requisite elements of conspiracy have been met.

Appellant has failed to produce or identify a single piece of evidence or testimony, which taken in the light most favorable to Appellant, creates a genuine issue of material fact that can lead to a reasonable inference that Respondents did anything other than appropriately communicate and correspond with the other professionals involved in the probate matter and Dr. Grist’s care. While it is true that courts are required to view the facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, to survive a motion for summary judgment, “it is not sufficient for a party to create an

inference that is not reasonable or an issue of fact that is not genuine.” Town of Hollywood v. Floyd, 403 S.C. 466, 477, 744 S.E.2d 161, 166 (2013) (citing Evans v. Stewart, 370 S.C. 522, 526, 636 S.E.2d 632, 635 (Ct. App. 2006)); Grimsley v. S.C. Law Enf’ t Div., 415 S.C. 33, 40, 780 S.E.2d 897, 900 (2015). All communications by Respondent Browning to the other parties were appropriate and consistent with her statutory duties and responsibilities. There is no evidence of any agreement between Respondents and any other party outside of the normal course of business in this type of probate matter.

Once again, Appellant relies upon Respondent Browning’s answer to a single deposition question, taken out of context as explained hereinabove, to support her allegation that “Respondent Browning became a critical part of Defendant Priscilla Mickie Grist’s efforts to gain control over her father and his estate.” (App.’s Final Br. at 10). Respondent Browning simply stated that it was not her job to support Priscilla Mickie Grist as temporary guardian. This is true. Respondent Browning did not have an affirmative duty or responsibility to assist an inexperienced temporary guardian; however, working with an individual who has been appointed by the probate court as the temporary guardian is not evidence of conspiracy no matter how hard one squints. Instead, it is evidence that Respondent Browning took her appointed role as guardian ad litem to heart and made efforts to communicate with Mickey Grist, primarily by email, to assist with coordinating Dr. Grist’s care. That is all the 34 communications establish—appropriate and reasonable communication between guardian ad litem and guardian. If the 34 communications established otherwise, Appellant would certainly cite to the language within the email communications to support her claim of a conspiracy.

In addition to the requirement that a plaintiff provide actual evidence to support the combination or agreement of the parties to the conspiracy, the plaintiff must also prove that the

parties conspired to commit an unlawful act or a lawful act by unlawful means, together with the commission of an overt act in furtherance of the action. To be actionable, the primary purpose or object of an alleged conspiracy must be to injure the Plaintiff. Benedict College v. Nat'l Credit Sys., 400 S.C. 538, 735 S.E.2d 518 (Ct. App. 2012).

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